
 1 

 Democratic Services 
White Cliffs Business Park 
Dover 
Kent  CT16 3PJ 
 
Telephone: (01304) 821199 
Fax: (01304) 872453 
DX: 6312 
Minicom: (01304) 820115 
Website: www.dover.gov.uk 
e-mail: democraticservices 
 @dover.gov.uk 

 
 
 

21 November 2022 
 

 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
NOTICE OF DECISION TAKEN BETWEEN MEETINGS – (DPH04 22) ELVINGTON 
DEVELOPMENT SITE – WORK TO DEMONSTRATE DELIVERABILITY FOR LOCAL 
PLAN REGULATION 19 EXAMINATION 
 
Please find attached details of a decision taken by Councillor Oliver Richardson, Portfolio 
Holder for Community and Corporate Property, in relation to a development site in Elvington 
and work to demonstrate its deliverability for the Local Plan Regulation 19 Examination. 
 
The deadline for call-in of this decision is 10.00am on Friday, 25 November 2022. 
 
If call-in is not activated, the implementation date for this decision will be noon on 25 
November. 
 
Members of the public who require further information are asked to contact Democratic 
Services on 01304 872303 or by e-mail at democraticservices@dover.gov.uk. 
 
Yours sincerely 

 
 
Democratic Services Officer 
 
ENCL 
  
1   NOTICE OF DECISION TAKEN BETWEEN MEETINGS - (DPH04 22) ELVINGTON 

DEVELOPMENT SITE - WORK TO DEMONSTRATE DELIVERABILITY FOR 
LOCAL PLAN REGULATION 19 EXAMINATION (Pages 2-7) 
 

 
 
 

Public Document Pack



Decision Notice 
 

Decision Taken Between Meetings 
 

Dover District Council 

Decision No: DPH04 

Subject: ELVINGTON DEVELOPMENT SITE – WORK TO 
DEMONSTRATE DELIVERABILITY FOR THE LOCAL PLAN 
REGULATION 19 EXAMINATION 

Notification Date: 21 November 2022 

Implementation Date: 25 November 2022 

Decision taken by: Councillor Oliver Richardson, Portfolio Holder for 
Community and Corporate Property 

Authority: Paragraph 12 of Section 3C (General Responsibilities 
Delegated to All Members of the Executive) of Part 3 
(Responsibility for Functions) of the Constitution 

Decision Type: Executive Non-Key Decision 

Call-In to Apply? Yes (the deadline for call-in expires at 10.00am on 25 
November 2022) 

Classification: Unrestricted  

Reason for the 
Decision: 

To enable the compiling of sufficient evidence in order to 
demonstrate the deliverability of the Elvington development site 
for the Local Plan Regulation 19 Examination. 

Decision: 1.To approve the engagement of professional consultants to 
demonstrate the viability of the Elvington development site in 
terms of its capability of delivering the quantum of housing and 
associated infrastructure as identified in Strategic Policy 7 of the 
Dover District Local Plan Regulation 18 draft. 
2. To agree the provisional budget of £62,250 + VAT to be met 
from the General Fund’s feasibility study budget. 

 
1. Consideration and Alternatives (if applicable) 

1.1 See attached report. 
2. Any Conflicts of Interest Declared? 
2.1 None. 
3. Supporting Information (as applicable) 

3.1       See attached report. 
 

2

Agenda Item No 1



Dover District Council 

Subject: ELVINGTON DEVELOPMENT SITE – WORK TO DEMONSTRATE 
DELIVERABILITY FOR THE LOCAL PLAN REGULATION 19 
EXAMINATION 

Notification Date: 21 November 2022 

Implementation Date: 25 November 2022 

Decision to be taken 
by: 

Councillor Oliver Richardson, Portfolio Holder for Community 
and Corporate Property 

Authority: Paragraph 12 of Section 3C (General Responsibilities Delegated 
to ll Members of the Executive) of Part 3 (Responsibility for 
Functions) of the Constitution 

Decision Type: Executive Non-Key Decision 

Classification: Unrestricted 

Purpose of the report: To seek approval to engage professional consultants to carry out the 
initial due diligence work required to demonstrate the viability of the 
development site in terms of its capability of delivering the quantum 
of housing and associated infrastructure as identified in Site 
Allocation Policy 28 of the Dover District Local Plan Regulation 19 
draft. 

Recommendation: 1. To approve the engagement of professional consultants to 
demonstrate the viability of the Elvington development site in terms 
of its capability of delivering the quantum of housing and associated 
infrastructure as identified in Site Allocation Policy 28 of the Dover 
District Local Plan Regulation 19 draft. 
2.  To agree the provisional budget of £62,250 + VAT to be met from 
the General Fund’s feasibility study budget 

 
1. Summary 
1.1 The Local Plan Regulation 19 consultation stage is likely to result in third party queries 

being raised that challenge the Elvington Development Site’s inclusion within the Local 
Plan’s Strategic Housing allocation 
 

1.2 To mitigate this risk, it will be necessary to gather sufficient evidence that both the site 
and the Council as developer can deliver the quantum of housing and supporting 
infrastructure required. 
 

1.3 The Council is therefore looking to appoint Hume Planning Consultancy to co-ordinate 
our engagement with various reputable and experienced consultants to successfully 
deliver a suite of services that demonstrates the viability of the Elvington Development 
Site in terms of its capability of delivering the quantum of housing and associated 
infrastructure as identified in Site Allocation Policy 28 of the Dover District Local Plan 
Regulation 19 draft. 
 

1.4 The consequences of not demonstrating the required level of deliverability and the 
Elvington Development Site being removed from the Strategic Housing allocation are: 

3



 
• The value of the land owned by the Council will diminish accordingly. 

 
• The Local Planning Authority (LPA) will be required to identify and allocate 

less optimal sites for delivering the strategic housing requirements.  
 

2. Introduction and Background 
2.1 Site Allocation Policy 28 of the Dover District Local Plan Regulation 19 draft identifies 

land to the east of Adelaide Road at Elvington as the site for a new sustainable 
community that will be required to incorporate garden village principles within any 
development proposals put forward. 

2.2 Through the Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA) work the 
Local Planning Authority has assessed that this area of land sited between Elvington 
and Eythorne will be able to deliver approximately 300 new homes. 

2.3 The current iteration of Site Allocation Policy 28 requires a masterplan to be developed 
for the site that sets out the quantum and distribution of land uses, access, sustainable 
design, and layout principles. This will need to be prepared by the landowners (of which 
one is the Council, who owns most of the land that currently sits within the allocation).  

2.4 The Council has acknowledged that constraints do exist on this site, primarily in 
relation to the cumulative impact upon the local road network and acknowledges that 
further work will be required to develop an appropriate mitigation scheme. 

2.5 The Regulation 19 consultation stage is likely to result in third-party queries being 
raised that challenge the Elvington Development Site’s inclusion within the Local 
Plan’s Strategic Housing allocation. 

2.6 To mitigate this risk, it will be necessary to gather sufficient evidence that both the site 
and the Council as developer can deliver the quantum of housing and supporting 
infrastructure required. 

2.7 In terms of evidence required informal advice has been sought from both the Local 
Planning Authority and an independent planning consultant. The advice received 
suggested that it would have been prudent to initiate and progress the following due 
diligence before full Council sat in October 2022 to consider the Regulation 19 Local 
Plan. Further and more detailed evidence will now have to be gathered to satisfy the 
requirements of the Submission of Representation to the DDC Regulation 19 Local 
Plan scheduled for 9th December 2022. 

• Engage formally with adjacent third-party landowners to determine whether 
it is both viable and beneficial to incorporate land currently within their 
ownership in our strategic development proposal. 

• Engage formally with KCC Highways via the Prep-application process to 
establish the impact that the proposed development will have on the 
existing traffic infrastructure and agree in principle any mitigation measures 
required to alleviate any concerns raised. 

• Commission a series of strategic masterplans that demonstrate the 
deliverability of the Elvington Development site including any agreed 
mitigation measures to any concerns arising. 

2.8 Hume Planning Consultancy were previously appointed to carry out a high-level review 
of the developer requirements associated with the development site and Strategic 
Policy 7.  Based on the formal advice received a strategy and high-level budget 
(totalling £62,250 + VAT for Stages 1,2 and 3) have been developed to mitigate the 
identified risk and is detailed as follows: 

4



Stage 1: Land engagement with adjoining landowners and certainty via a signed 
agreement before the Regulation 19 Stage to determine whether the additional land 
parcels (outside the Council's control) should be promoted or not.   
A planning consultant who is experienced in taking on these types of negotiations will 
be appointed to advise on the recommended type of agreements and undertake 
negotiations on the Council's behalf.   

• Excluding the legal costs of formalising the Heads of Terms of the 
agreement the budget for this stage of work would not exceed £2,750 + 
VAT.   

Stage 2: Engagement with KCC Highways with the objective of reaching an agreed 
position upon the sustainability of the location and impact of vehicles on the network 
and to what degree the development can realistically focus on non-car travel modes 
within its submission.   
A planning consultant would be appointed to assist the Highways specialist (WSP) who 
were previously commissioned to carry out the initial traffic assessment, in scoping the 
extent of the work that will be required at this stage and attending the meetings with 
KCC Highways and ensuring key objectives are incorporated within the Masterplan 
proposals.   
 

• The fixed fee budget from input from the Planning Consultant with WSP on 
highway matters would not exceed £1,250 + VAT. 
 

• The fee budget for the additional traffic surveys required to satisfy the 
queries arising from the whole Regulation 19 consultation period is 
expected to be in the region of £15,000 + VAT. A proportion of this identified 
budget will be used to gather detailed evidence required to satisfy the 
requirements of the Submission of Representation to the DDC Regulation 
19 Local Plan scheduled for 9th December 2022. 

Stage 3: Master planning/Vision.  The advice received has indicated that it is important 
that visually we are able to present a Masterplan to the LPA that clearly communicates 
the 'selling point' of the 'vision' for the Elvington Development site whilst also identifying 
the credibility of its delivery. It must incorporate sufficient detail to show how 
highways/permeability, cycle connections and public transport are driving the design 
process and that this has been very much a landscape led Masterplan.  The 
Masterplan must also show at a high level, how climate change initiatives are reflected 
in the proposals alongside how we intend to address the opportunities for biodiversity 
enhancement.   
To deliver a masterplan containing the detail of information recommended would 
require some high-level input from a landscape, flood risk and ecological consultant as 
well as the transport input from the Highways specialist.  The input from us, the 
planning consultant and the appointed master planners would then shape this 
information into a masterplan suitable for the LPA Regulation 19 requirements.   

• The fee budget associated with the Ecology surveys and reports required 
to inform the masterplans is expected to be in the region of £5,000 +VAT. 

• The fee budget associated with developing a climate change/sustainability 
mitigation strategy required to inform the masterplans is expected to be in 
the region of £5,000 +VAT 

• The planning consultant fees for this input would not exceed £5,250 + VAT 
in the period up to the Regulation 19 publication.  

5



• The landscaping input for the whole Regulation 19 process is likely to be in 
the region of £10,000 +VAT. A proportion of this identified budget would be 
used to satisfy the requirements of the Submission of Representation to the 
DDC Regulation 19 Local Plan scheduled for 9th December 2022. 

• The master planning architectural input for the whole Regulation 19 process 
is likely to be in the region of £15,000 +VAT. A proportion of this identified 
budget would be used to satisfy the requirements of the Submission of 
Representation to the DDC Regulation 19 Local Plan scheduled for 9th 
December 2022. 

• If requested at this stage a further budget of £3,000 + VAT may be required 
to develop and demonstrate a strategy for delivering the infrastructure and 
utility requirements needed to achieve the optimum quantity of residential 
units for the development site. 

Further viability work will be required after the LPA has completed the Regulation 19 
consultation process. The nature and extent of these works will be dependent on the 
feedback received and the strategy then adopted. 

3. Identification of Options 
3.1 Option 1 – Recommended: To act upon the advice received and appoint professional 

consultants to carry out the initial due-diligence work required to demonstrate the 
viability of the development site in terms of its capability of delivering the quantum of 
housing and associated infrastructure as identified in Site Allocation Policy 28 of the 
Dover District Local Plan Regulation 19 draft. 

3.2 Option 2: Not acting upon the advice as outlined in Sections 2.7 and 2.8 above. 
4. Evaluation of Options 
4.1 Option 1: Proceeding with this option will enable the Council as developer to be best 

placed to demonstrate to the Planning Inspectorate that the Elvington Development 
Site can deliver the quantum of housing and associated infrastructure as identified in 
Site Allocation Policy 28 of the Dover District Local Plan Regulation 19 draft. 

4.2 Option 2: Not providing the evidence required to demonstrate that the Elvington 
Development Site can credibly deliver the quantum of housing identified will result in 
the Local Planning Authority (LPA) coming under increasing pressure to remove the 
site from the Strategic Housing Allocation in next iteration of the Local Plan. The 
consequences of this action would be: 

• The value of the land owned by the Council would diminish accordingly. 
 

• The Local Planning Authority (LPA) will be required to identify and allocate 
less optimal sites for delivering the strategic housing requirements.  

5. Resource Implications 

5.1 As referenced in item 2.8 above a high-level budget of £62,250 + VAT has been 
identified for the suite of services required to compile an evidence base that can 
illustrate viability and deliverability in terms of potential queries arising out of the Local 
Plan Regulation 19 consultation stage. 

5.2 In terms of officer time there will be a requirement for ongoing input from the Client 
Representative and the Project Lead. This is estimated to be approximately 15-man 
days dependent on level of involvement required. 
 
 

6



6. Climate Change and Environmental Implications  
6.1 The high-level budget identified in section 5.1 includes for the development of 

strategies and surveys that will assist in facilitating compliancy with Strategic Policy 1: 
Planning for Climate Change, Strategic 14: Enhancing Green Infrastructure and 
Biodiversity and the associated development management policies of the latest 
iteration of the Dover District Local Plan 2040.  

7. Corporate Implications 
7.1 Comment from the Director of Finance (linked to the MTFP): Members are reminded 

that the Council’s revenue and capital resources are under pressure and so they will 
wish to assure themselves that all proposals progress the Council’s priorities, are the 
best option available and will deliver value for money (AC) 

7.2 Comment from the Solicitor to the Council: The Head of Governance & HR has been 
consulted during the preparation of this report and has no further comment to make. 

7.3 Comment from the Equalities Officer: ‘This report does not specifically highlight any 
equality implications, however in discharging their duties members are required to 
comply with the public sector equality duty as set out in Section 149 of the Equality Act 
2010 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/section/149’  (KMCE) 

7.4 Comment from Climate Change & Energy Conservation Officer: The Climate Change 
& Energy Conservation Officer has been consulted in the preparation of this report and 
has no further comments to make. (AM) 

7.5 Other Officers (as appropriate):   
8. Background Papers 
 Dover District Local Plan Regulation 19 draft 
 
Contact Officer:  Rob Page – Strategic Development Lead (Architecture) 

7

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.uk%2Fukpga%2F2010%2F15%2Fsection%2F149&data=05%7C01%7CRobert.Page%40DOVER.GOV.UK%7Ccf24521db9074a1e4e5e08da6f9415c8%7C97d0cb53199d4c70a001375e8c953735%7C0%7C0%7C637944979047749224%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=7uRo6CWr5WE7yefgV0gbAipBjfBvLwbX96JSPe4trak%3D&reserved=0

	Agenda
	1 Notice of Decision Taken Between Meetings - (DPH04 22) Elvington Development Site - Work to Demonstrate Deliverability for Local Plan Regulation 19 Examination
	DPH04 22 - Elvington Development Site Report


